Appellant Dennis Willhite ("Willhite") hereby requests Supreme 

Court review of the August 1 0, 2015 decision of Division One affirming 

the jury verdict ofDecember 19,2013. App. Ex. 1. Reconsideration of 

this decision was denied on September 4, 2015. App. Ex. 2.

I. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1) Are an employer's duties under the Washington Family Leave 

Act ("WFLA") and the federal Family and Medical Leave Act ("FMLA") 

nondelegable? 

2) Can an employer avoid liability under the Washington Law 

Against Discrimination ("WLAD") on the grounds that it delegated its 

duties under the WFLA and FMLA to a third party administrator? 

3) When an employer contracts with a third party to administer 

employee disability claims under the WFLA and FMLA, does an agency 

relationship arise between the third party administrator and the employer? 

4) Does an employer have knowledge of an employee's disability 

for purposes of the WLAD when it has notice that that employee took a 

three month disability leave of absence due to a serious health condition? 

5) Is it error to add an additional element of proof to the disparate 

treatment pattern instruction that requires the plaintiff to prove that the 

employer had actual knowledge of the employee's disability before the 

jury can consider whether the disability was a substantial factor in the 

termination decision? 
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6) Is it error to exclude from evidence an employer's post 

termination explanation for its termination decision and to refuse to 

instruct the jury that it is permitted to infer discrimination if it finds the 

explanation to be unworthy of belief? 

7) Is a plaintiff preventing from arguing his theory of the case 

when the court refuses to instruct on the circumstances from which 

discrimination can be inferred and instructs the jury that the plaintiff must 

prove that the employer had actual knowledge of the disability. 

8) Can a plaintiff who has been employed with the same company 

for 32 years and who has a bachelor's degree in accounting testify to his 

own lost salary, benefits and pension income? 

9) When an employer includes a formal severance plan as part of 

an employee benefits package, can it thereafter condition payment of the 

benefit on a release of liability? 

1 0) Is a plaintiff entitled to judgment as a matter of law when an 

employer's termination decision is based solely on an assessment of skills 

that are compromised by the disability? 

RAP 13.4 (b) provides that a petition for review will be accepted 

by the Supreme Court: ( 1) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in 

conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; (2) if the decision of the 

Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the 

Court of Appeals; (3) if a significant question of law under the 
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Constitution ofthe State of Washington or ofthe United States is 

involved; or, (4) ifthe petition involves an issue of substantial public 

interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. 

As will be established herein, Willhite respectfully submits that 

good cause exists for this Court to grant this petition for review under 

subdivisions (1), (3) and (4). 

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Willhite had been employed at Farmers New World Life's 

("Farmers") for 31 years when he began to suffer symptoms of anxiety 

and depression in late 2008/early 2009. In the 31 years prior to his 

depression, Willhite received consistently positive performance reviews, 

regular raises and promotions. His personnel file is devoid of a single 

disciplinary or derogatory remark. Willhite's first and only "less than 

favorable" review is dated December 2009 - months after the onset of his 

symptoms. During this time, Willhite advised human resources of his 

mental state and his intention to seek medical attention. By May 2010, 

Willhite's condition was diagnosed as acute and he was placed on a three 

month medical leave of absence. 

Thirteen weeks after his return from disability leave, Willhite was 

terminated in connection with a company-wide layoff. Employees were 

selected for termination based solely upon a "matrix" that included a 

subjective assessment of skills in areas such as "initiative," "teamwork," 
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and "communication," along with a number value assigned to the prior 

three years' performance reviews. The skills assessment was based 

entirely upon the prior 12 month period between October 2009 to 

September 2010. It is undisputed that Willhite was suffering from 

depression during the entirety of this time period and, in fact, was on 

medical leave for three of the twelve months. Prior to his depression, 

Willhite excelled in all areas assessed on the matrix, often "exceeding 

expectations." Eight weeks after returning from disability leave, 

Willhite's manager assessed Willhite's performance of these skills over 

the prior year. While all other employees received an average rating of 

"8," Willhite scores ranged from 1-3. His total skills ranking score was 

12. The scores of his peers were almost four times higher, at an average 

of 47. This score sealed Willhite's fate, irrespective of any value placed 

on his prior three years' performance reviews, and he was selected for 

termination. 

At the time of his termination, Willhite was fifteen months shy of 

eligibility for early retirement at the highest level of pension benefits. This 

suit for disability discrimination followed. 

At trial, Willhite offered the report of Dr. Laura Don, a consulting 

psychiatric physician hired by Liberty Mutual, Farmers' disability claims 

administrator. The report found that Willhite suffered from a "significant 

psychiatric impairment" that compromised the performance of all of the 
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skills measured by the matrix. Dr. Don conditioned Willhite's return to 

work on Farmers' providing certain accommodations regarding Willhite's 

work environment. 

Farmers claims that it never received the report of Dr. Don. In 

fact, Farmers claims that it had no idea that Willhite was suffering from 

any kind of disability. This "plausible deniability" argument is based up 

on Farmer's retention of Liberty Mutual to administer its employee 

disability claims. Farmers testified that employees are instructed to 

contact Liberty Mutual with all issues having to do with disability claims 

and that Liberty Mutual handles those claims "top to bottom." Farmers 

claims that, as a result of this retention, it is provided no information 

whatsoever regarding the nature or status of an employee's disability 

claim. Although it was copied on letters from Liberty Mutual approving 

Willhite's disability leave due to a "serious health condition," the director 

ofhuman resources testified dismissed the import of this information as 

"stock language" and that he had no "inkling" of his disability. 

The court refused to find an agency relationship between Liberty 

Mutual and Farmers, despite testimony from Farmers that it contracted 

with Liberty Mutual to carry out its obligations under the medical leave 

laws. Based upon this ruling, the court excluded the Dr. Don report

which revealed not only the nature of the disability, but the way in which 

it affected the skills measured by the matrix. 
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Willhite requested that the court instruct the jury with the pattern 

disparate treatment instruction. Farmers objected to the pattern 

instruction on the grounds that it is too "plaintiff friendly" in that it does 

not require Willhite to prove that Farmers' had actual knowledge of 

Willhite's disability. Contrary to all applicable law and over Willhite's 

strenuous objections, the trial court added the following language to the 

instruction: 

"Where an employer did not know or had no notice of an 
employee's disability, the employee's disability cannot have been 
a substantial/actor in the employment decision (emphasis 
added)." 

Although this language was borrowed from the accommodation 

instruction that permits a finding of constructive notice, the court refused 

to give a constructive notice instruction here. 

Willhite requested that the jury be instructed on the circumstances 

from which discrimination can be inferred, such as the temporal proximity 

between the disability and the termination, a termination decision based 

solely upon a subjective assessment, a precipitous drop in performance or 

the employer's post termination explanation that is unworthy of belief. 

The court refused all instructions. 

Throughout the course of the trial, the jury was inundated with 

testimony that no one at Farmers had any idea that Willhite had a 

disability. Despite being copied on letters from Liberty Mutual 
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referenced Willhite's "disability leave," one member ofhuman resources 

testified that he had no idea that Willhite's leave was even medically 

related. In a written question to Matt Crook, Farmers' head of human 

resources, on juror asked: "For clarification was there any knowledge of 

the plaintiffs disability before the termination?" Crook responded: "We 

knew he was on leave for that time frame, yeah. We didn't know why, 

"we" being the HR team, nor the manager, only that he was on leave." 

During closing, Farmers made eight separate references to its lack 

of knowledge and pointed to the "unanimous testimony that no one was 

told of Mr. Willhite's depression or his anxiety." With the modified 

instruction adding notice as an element, Farmers told the jury that the 

testimony regarding Farmers lack of knowledge mandated a defense 

verdict: 

No one, as I have said repeatedly, no one at Farmers Life 
knew he had depression. It could not have been a 
significant motivating factor in Farmers Life's decision to 
lay him off when no one knew. RP (Dec. 18 Bowman 
Closing) 155:6-10. 

After hearing this argument, the jury was presented with the 

modified instruction that it could not find a substantial factor if it did not 

find that Farmers had actual notice of the disability. Given a record 

replete with Farmers' denied knowledge, the jury had no choice but to find 

that Farmers' did not have knowledge of Willhite's disability. Because 

this was a threshold question on the verdict form, Willhite's 
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discrimination claim was defeated without the jury ever answering the 

question of whether the disability was a substantial factor in the 

termination decision. 

Although the Court of Appeals affirmed the verdict in an 

unpublished opinion, the consequences of its decision are not limited to 

Willhite. Farmers employs 22,000 people - 1,000 of which of are 

Washington State. Zurich, Farmers' parent company, employs 60,000 

people. Like all large companies, Farmers is no stranger to discrimination 

claims. What sets this case apart, and why review here is critical, is 

Farmers' openly antagonistic view of the laws against discrimination and 

its unabashed determination circumvent its protections. 

The modification to the disparate treatment instruction was based 

solely upon two unpublished decisions and Farmers concedes that it is 

unable to produce any authority supporting the amendment. Yet Farmers 

knew that if the pattern instruction was used, the jury would find that it 

had notice of Willhite's disability when it learned of his disability leave. 

Indeed, Farmers previously litigated and lost on the very same notice 

argument advanced in this case. See Regby ex ref. Ownes v. Farmers Ins. 

Exchange, 107 Wn.App. 1039 (2001)(holding that notice of intent to seek 

disability leave is notice of the disability). Farmers' response to Regby 

was not to heed the decision but, rather, attack the problem from another 

angle. This came in the form of the retention of Liberty Mutual and 
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Farmers' newly minted "plausible deniability" defense. By affirming the 

verdict, the Court of Appeals placed its legal stamp of approval on this 

defense and, essentially, bestowed on Farmers immunity from liability on 

an entire category of disability discrimination claims. 

III. ARGUMENT 

A. FARMERS CANNOT SHIELD ITSELF FROM LIABILITY 

THROUGH ITS RETENTION OF LIBERTY MUTUAL 

Pursuant to fundamental principles of agency law, Liberty Mutual 

was acting as Farmers' agent when carrying out Farmers' obligations 

under the medial leave laws. Restatement (Second) of Agency § 214 

(1958), App. Ex. 6; Goodman v. Boeing Co., 75 Wn.App. 60, 85-86 

(1994). Any finding to the contrary would impermissibly permit Farmers 

to delegate to Liberty Mutual its duties under the medical leave laws. 

As a result of the agency relationship, Liberty Mutual's knowledge 

of Willhite's disability is imputed to Farmers. Goodman, 75 Wn.App. at 

85-86; Restatement (Third) of Agency §5.03 (2006), App. Ex. 3; 

Restatement (Second) of Agency §272 (1958) App. Ex 5; Derocher v. 

Crescent Wharf & Warehouse BRB 83-2484 (1985)(PMA, employer's 

third party benefits administrator is its agent and its knowledge is imputed 

to employer), App. Ex. 7; Steedv. Container, 25 BRBS 210 (1991)(third 

party benefits administrator for employer/stevedoring company is agent of 

employer giving rise to imputed knowledge), App. Ex. 9; Bustillo v. 

12 



Southwest, 33 BRBS 15 (1999)(notice to the employer's claims 

administrator was imputed to the employer), App. Ex. 8. This rule is 

designed to prevent a principal from asserting the very defense that 

Farmers asserts here. Restatement (Third) of Agency §5.03 cmt. b (2006), 

App. Ex. 4. 

B. THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS WERE AN ERRONEOUS 

STATEMENT OF THE LAW 

RCW 49.60.180 makes it unlawful to terminate an employee 

"because of' a disability. This standard is met upon a showing that the 

disability was a "substantial factor" in the termination decision. Mackay v. 

Acorn Custom Cabinetry, Inc., 127 Wn.2d 302,310-11 (1995). The 

plaintiffs burden of proof is set forth in pattern instruction WPI 330.32. 

The employer's knowledge regarding the disability is not a separate 

element of proof This is because knowledge is easily (and usually) 

denied while a discriminatory motive, and therefore knowledge, can be 

inferred from the circumstances surrounding the termination. Hill v. 

BCTI, Income Fund-I, 144 Wn.2d 172, 179-80 (2001). 

1. Addition of a Notice Element Violated the Legislative 
Mandate for a Liberal Construction of WLAD 

The WLAD contains a legislative mandate for its liberal 

construction and all interpretations of the statute must further the 

legislative goal of eliminating discrimination. Dean v. Municipality of 

Metropolitan Seattle-Metro, 104 Wn.2d 627,632 (1985); Hollandv. 
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Boeing, 90 Wn.2d 384, 388-89 (1978). It is impermissible to read into the 

WLAD additional elements of proof that would serve to narrow its 

protections and any instruction that serves to create an additional burden 

of proof constitutes reversible error. Lodis v. Corbis Holdings, Inc., 172 

Wn.App. 835, 848-49 (2013); Johnson v. Chevron USA, Inc., 159 

Wn.App. 18,33 (2010); Svendgardv. State, 122 Wn.App.670, 675-76 

(2004); Mackay, 127 Wn.2d at 310-12. 

The notice language added to the pattern instruction was based 

solely upon two unpublished opinions and the pattern instruction for a 

claim arising out of a failure to accommodate. Ironically, the unpublished 

opinions cited by Farmers stand for the proposition that an employer can 

have constructive notice of a disability. This is consistent with the 

authority in accommodation cases, which provides that an employer has 

notice of a disability once it becomes aware of the employee's "serious 

health condition." Sommer v. Department of Social and Health Services, 

104 Wn.App. 160, 173 (2001); Bachelder v. American West Airlines, Inc., 

259 F.3d 112, 1130 (2001); Xin Liu v, Amway, 347 F.3d 1125, 1134 

(2003). Despite this authority and despite its reliance on the 

accommodation instructions in support of the modification to the disparate 

treatment instruction, the court refused to instruct the jury on constructive 

notice. The added notice language served to "qualify" the circumstances 

under which the jury could find a substantial factor and eliminated its 
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ability to infer discrimination from circumstantial evidence. This was an 

impermissible comment on the evidence that deprived Willhite of the 

ability to argue his theory of the case. State v. Woldegiorgis, 53 Wn.App. 

92, 94 (1988)(holding that embellishment of pattern instruction constitutes 

unwarranted comment on the evidence). 

Here, the trial court's ruling that added an additional burden of 

proofto WPI 330.32 was not a liberal construction of the WLAD nor did 

it apply exceptions narrowly. To the contrary, the ruling created an 

exception so wide that it served to swallow whole the protections that the 

statute was created to provide. 

2. Willhite Was Prevented From Arguing That 
Discrimination Could be Inferred From a Termination 
Decision Based upon Performance Deficits Related to 
the Disability 

If a termination decision is based upon performance deficits related 

to depression, the jury is entitled to conclude, based upon this evidence 

alone, that the disability was a substantial factor in the termination 

decision. Gambini v. Total Renal Care, Inc., 486 F.3d 1087, 1093-95 

(2007). If evidence is presented on this issue, it is reversible error to not 

instruct the jury that it may find discrimination based upon solely upon 

such a finding. Gambini, 486 F.3d at 1093-95. In Reihl v. Foodmaker, 

Inc., 152 Wn.2d 138, 145 (2004), the court held that comments about 

changes in the plaintiff's personality, suggesting that he was not the same 
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as the "old Mark" or that he was becoming more like the "old Mark" were 

sufficient to give rise to liability for a termination decision based upon the 

symptoms of depression. Riehl, 152 Wn.2d at 152. 

Here, all of the skills measured by the matrix were affected by 

Willhite's depression. However, the jury was instructed that it could not 

infer discrimination from the assessment without first finding that 

Farmers' had actual knowledge of the disability. This was reversible 

error. 

3. Willhite was Prevented From Arguing That 
Discrimination Could be Inferred From a Post
Termination Explanation That is Questionable 

The law provides that a jury can find discrimination based solely 

upon an employer's post termination explanation that is of questionable 

credibility because the jury is entitled to infer that the explanation is part 

of a cover up. Hill, 144 Wn.2d at 184-85; Sellstedv. Washington Mutual 

Savings Bank, 69 Wn.App. 852, 861-64 (1993); Riehl, 152 Wn.2d at 151-

53. After the termination, Farmers wrote the Human Rights Commission 

with an explanation for its termination decision. The explanation was not 

only inconsistent with other versions, the letter contained affirmative 

misrepresentations regarding Farmers investigation into the matter. The 

trial court excluded the letter and refused to instruct the jury on inferences 

that can be drawn from an employer's post termination explanation. 
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4. Willhite Was Prevented From Arguing That 
Discrimination Could be Inferred From Circumstances 
Surrounding the Termination 

A jury is entitled to infer discrimination from the proximity 

between the disability-related conduct and the termination or a dramatic 

drop in performance just prior to termination. Wilmot v. Kaiser Aluminum 

& Chern. Corp., 118 Wn.2d 46, 69 (1991); Kimbro v. Atlantic Richfield 

Co, 889 F.2d 869, 875 (9th Cir. 1989); Xin Liu; 347 F.3d at 1137. 1 

Discrimination can also be inferred when the termination decision is based 

upon subjective performance evaluations such as those measuring 

"dedication," or "enthusiasm." Xin Liu, 347 F.3d at 1136-37. Willhite 

requested that the court instruct the jury on these circumstances, which 

request was denied. Farmers claims that Willhite could have simply 

"argued" the theories on which the court refused instructions. However, 

these are the very theories that the notice language served to extinguish as 

they were all conditioned upon a prior finding of actual notice. 

C. WILLHITE Is ENTITLED To JUDGMENT As A MATTER OF 
LAW ON LIABILITY UNDER THE WLAD AND WFLA 

Farmers admits that its termination decision was based solely on 

the matrix. It is undisputed that the Willhite's disability compromised all 

of the skills measured by the matrix. Because Farmers' only defense to 

I Federal court decisions interpreting the Civil Rights Act of 1964 are persuasive 
authority in Washington. Xieng v. Peoples Bank of Washington, 120 Wn.2d 512, 518 
(1993). 
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this claim is that it was unaware of the disability and because knowledge 

is imputed as a matter of law, judgment should be entered in favor of 

Willhite. 

D. THE ORDER OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT SHOULD BE 

REVERSED AND VACATED 

After his termination, Willhite received a severance payment. 

Because Willhite did not to sign a release, Farmers demanded that he 

return the payment. Willhite refused. The trial court entered an order of 

summary judgment in favor of Farmers on its unjust enrichment claim and 

judgment was entered in the amount of the severance, on the grounds that 

the severance was conditioned upon a release of liability. This ruling was 

reversible error. 

In order to establish a cause of action for unjust enrichment, it 

must be shown that the person allegedly enriched did not provide value for 

the benefit at issue. Young v. Young, 164 Wn.2d 477, 484 (2008). Here, 

the severance was, pursuant to Farmers own description, an employee 

benefit. Benefits are not "gifts," but rather compensation under the law. 

Flower v. TRA Industries, 127 Wn.App. 13,34 (2005); WPI 330.81. When 

Farmers conditioned receipt upon signing a release, it did not lay the 

frame work for unjust enrichment but, rather, an adhesion contract. 

Townsend v. Quadrant Corp., 153 Wn.App. 870,883-84 (2009). 
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E. THE COURT'S RULINGS ON DAMAGE INSTRUCTIONS AND 

EVIDENCE WERE ERROR 

The law presumes that a plaintiff has sufficient personal 

knowledge of his or her own income and property to testify to its value 

without the aid of experts. Mcinnis & Co. v. Western Tractor & Equip. 

Co., 67 Wn.2d 965, 968-69 (1966); McCurdy v. Union Pac R. Co, 68 

Wn.2d 457, 468 (1966); Ingersol v. Seattle-First Nat. Bank, 63 Wn.2d 

354,358-59 (1963); Tiegs v. Watts, 135 Wn.2d 1, 18 (1998). This rule is 

equally applicable to testimony of lost income in employment cases. 

Consolidated Maxfield v. Sinclair Intern., 766 F.2d 788 (1985 3rd 

Cir)(holding no expert testimony required when plaintiff relies on salary 

history to calculate front pay and no expert needed to reduce amount to 

present value); Donlin v. Philips Lighting North America Corp. 581 F.3d 

73, 81-82 (3rd Cir. 2009). As such, Willhite should have been permitted 

to testify to his lost income, benefits and pension, based upon his 32 year 

history. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

The WLAD is a reflection of our state's "disdain" for 

discrimination and our commitment to ensure its complete eradication. 

RCW 49.60.010; WAC 162-16-200(1); Mackay, 127 Wn.2d at 309. 

Interpretations of the law that reduce its protections to mere rhetoric are to 

be rejected. Mackay, 127 Wn.2d at 310 (1985); Marquis v. City of 
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Spokane, 130 Wn.2d 97, 109 (1996). The interpretations by the trial court, 

affirmed on appeal, should not be allowed to stand.