RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Nov 03, 2015, 4:12 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

Supreme Court No. 92446-5

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DENNIS WILLHITE,

Plaintiff/Petitioner,

٧.

FARMERS NEW WORLD LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY, a Washington corporation,

Defendant/Respondent,

and

ZURICH AMERICAN INSURANCE CO., a corporation,

Defendant.

RESPONDENT'S OPPOSITION TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Jill D. Bowman, WSBA #11754 STOEL RIVES LLP 600 University Street, Suite 3600 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 624-0900

Attorneys for Respondent

80486631.1 0045556-00132



FILED AS ATTACHMENT TO EMAIL

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. There Is No Basis for Reversal of the Jury's Verdict on Willhite's Disability Discrimination Claim.

Willhite based his disability discrimination claim on allegations of disparate treatment. To prevail on this claim, Willhite had to convince the jury that "a discriminatory intent was a substantial factor" in FNWL's decision to terminate his employment. *See Riehl v. Foodmaker*, 152 Wn.2d 138, 149, 94 P.3d 930 (2004). "A 'substantial factor' means that the protected characteristic was a significant motivating factor bringing about the employer's decision." *Scrivener v. Clark Coll.*, 181 Wn.2d 439, 444, 34 P.3d 541 (2014).

1. Although An Agency Relationship Was the Predicate For His Imputed Notice Argument, Willhite Never Offered Evidence Sufficient to Prove That Liberty Mutual Was FNWL's Agent.

Acknowledging that "notice is inherent in the substantial factor question," Appellant's Opening Br. at 22, Willhite tried to circumvent the evidence that FNWL neither knew nor had notice of his disability (depression) when it decided to terminate his employment. He argued, and continues to argue, that FNWL had the requisite notice as a matter of law because Liberty Mutual reviewed Willhite's medical records, and Liberty Mutual's knowledge "is imputed" to FNWL "[a]s a result of the agency relationship...." Pet. at 12. The problem with this argument is that no showing of agency was made, despite the trial court's express invitation to Willhite to do so.

It is undisputed that Liberty Mutual was acting on FNWL's behalf when it administered the company's FMLA/FLA policies and short term and long term disability benefit plans, but Willhite never introduced *any* evidence showing that when Liberty Mutual provided those administrative services, it was acting under FNWL's control. That omission is fatal to the agency theory. *See Moss v. Vadman*, 77 Wn.2d 396, 403, 463 P.2d 159 (1969) (control is an essential element of an agency); *see also Hewson Constr., Inc. v. Reintree Corp.*, 101 Wn.2d 819, 825, 685 P.2d 1062 13 (1984) (mere existence of a contract does not give rise to an agency by implication). Willhite tries to avoid this conclusion by arguing that administering its own FMLA/FLA policy is an employer's non-delegable duty, Pet. at 12; *see also id.* at 4 (first issue), but he cites no authority for this proposition. This is not surprising, as the argument makes no sense. Employers hire outside contractors to administer leave polices and disability benefit plans in part because they know that employees sometimes do not want their employers to obtain information about their personal health issues. Hiring an outside contractor to perform these functions protects employees' privacy rights and is legally permissible.

Because the existence of an agency relationship was not proved, the trial court and the Court of Appeals properly refused to impute Liberty Mutual's knowledge to FNWL. There is no basis for entry of judgment in Willhite's favor "as a matter of law," as is suggested in the petition for discretionary review. *See* Pet. at 17-18.⁴

⁴ Willhite also suggests that judgment be entered in his favor "as a matter of law" on the FLA claim, Pet. at 17, but the petition contains no argument about the FLA claim. There are no grounds to grant this relief.

2. Willhite Was Permitted to Argue and Did Argue That the Jurors Could Infer FNWL Had Notice of His Disability.

The elements of a disparate treatment claim were set forth in Instruction No. 14.⁵ The instruction to which Willhite now objects,⁶ Instruction No. 18, did not set forth any additional elements. The last sentence merely reflected the common sense proposition that when an employer has no knowledge or notice of an employee's disability, the disability cannot have been the motivation for, or a substantial factor in, the employer's action.⁷ Indeed, as noted above, Willhite acknowledges that "notice is inherent in the substantial factor question." Appellant's Opening Br. at 22. In closing argument, Willhite cited several pieces of evidence to the jury and urged the jurors to infer from that evidence that FNWL *did* have notice that Willhite was disabled.

⁵ Instruction No. 14 was a combination of WPI 330.32 and 330.01.01.

⁶ After handing out copies of its proposed instructions, the trial court, in accordance with CR 51(f), went through them, one by one, inviting the parties to state their objections on the record. With respect to Instruction No. 18, Willhite's counsel affirmatively stated "no objection." Counsel also responded "no objection" when invited to state any objections to the proposed special verdict form. Under CR 49(a), any objection to the form is waived.

 $^{^{7}}$ Cf. Hume v. Am. Disposal Co., 124 Wn.2d 656, 670-72, 880 P.2d 988 (1994) (affirming dismissal of plaintiff's disability discrimination claim at close of plaintiff's case, based on plaintiff's failure to produce evidence that defendant knew or had reason to know that plaintiff suffered from a serious medical condition).

3. Willhite Was Permitted to Argue and Did Argue That the Jury Could Infer His Disability Was a Substantial Factor in FNWL's Decision to Terminate His Employment.

In Part III.B., subparts 2 and 4, of his petition, Willhite asserts that he "was prevented from arguing that discrimination could be inferred" from various pieces of evidence. Pet. at 15-17. This assertion has no merit inasmuch as Willhite did argue-extensively-that the jury could and should infer that FNWL had a discriminatory motive when it terminated Willhite's employment. For example, he told the jury that the proximity in time between his FMLA/FLA leave and his termination was indicative of discrimination based on disability, and that his depression was the reason for his drop in performance and his low score on the skills assessment portion of the RIF matrix. He also told the jury that the law makes no distinction between conduct caused by a disability and the disability itself,⁸ so if the conduct caused by his disability was the reason FNWL terminated his employment, "then, that is discrimination." In short, he was not precluded from arguing that his disability was a substantial factor in FNWL's termination decision.

⁸ Instruction No. 18 contained the sentence Willhite requested: "Conduct resulting from the disability is part of the disability and not a separate basis for termination."

In subpart 3, Willhite asserts that he was prevented from arguing that the jury could infer discrimination based on the letter Farmers submitted to the Human Rights Commission in response to Willhite's age discrimination complaint. Pet. at 16-17. He neglects to mention, however, that *he never offered the letter into evidence.*⁹ The trial court properly excluded argument based on a trial exhibit that was never admitted.

B. There Is No Basis For Reversal of the Summary Judgment Ruling on FNWL's Unjust Enrichment Counterclaim.

At page 18 of his Petition, Willhite repeats the argument he made to the Court of Appeals concerning FNWL's unjust enrichment counterclaim. He once again ignores the undisputed evidence that (a) FNWL's Severance Plan expressly conditioned payment of severance benefits upon an executed release, (b) he received benefits under the Severance Plan, but did not execute the required release, and (c) he was asked to return the benefits when the mistake was discovered, but did not do so. He points to no evidence supporting his argument that the severance benefits were compensation he had earned during the course of

⁹ Willhite claims that the "trial court excluded the letter," Pet. at 16, but the record is abundantly clear that the court never did so. *See Willhite*, 2015 WL 4730137, at *7 ("the record reveals that the trial court did not, in actuality, exclude the letter").

his employment, and he again ignores that there is nothing wrong with conditioning payment of severance benefits (which are not required by law) upon the execution of a release. *See Lockheed Corp. v. Spink*, 517 U.S. 882, 894, 116 S. Ct. 1783, 135 L. Ed.2d 153 (1996) (allowing an employer's offer to pay early retirement benefits to be conditioned upon an employee's waiver of employment-related claims). The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court's summary judgment on FNWL's counterclaim. *See Willhite*, 2015 WL 4730137, at *7-8.

C. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion In Limiting the Scope of Willhite's Damages Testimony.

Willhite's final argument is addressed to the limitations the trial court placed on Willhite's damages testimony after FNWL conducted extensive pre-testimonial voir dire. Pet. at 19. The court allowed Willhite to testify about his damages claim for back pay and front pay wages, but excluded testimony regarding other damages components.¹⁰ The Court of Appeals did not reach Willhite's argument on this issue because it properly affirmed the judgment entered in FNWL's favor.

In any event, the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it refused to allow Willhite to testify about future payments he allegedly

¹⁰ Willhite was never disclosed as an expert witness. The scope of his allowable testimony therefore was limited under ER 701.

would have received under the Farmers profit sharing plan,¹¹ after it was shown that he did not know how the plan payments were calculated and did not know if Farmers was profitable or what level of profitability it had achieved since his termination (or would achieve in the future), and admitted that the profit sharing plan had been discontinued. Nor was there any abuse of discretion in refusing to allow testimony about future shortterm incentive plan payments, after Willhite admitted he had no knowledge about how the company measured its performance for purposes of determining potential plan payments, or how the company might choose to factor in regional results or the distribution of performance ratings. Finally, there also was no abuse of discretion in refusing to allow Willhite to testify regarding his claimed pension damages when he admittedly made several mistakes in his damages calculations. The many mistakes highlighted the lack of reliability in Willhite's calculations.

IV. CONCLUSION

For all of the above reasons, the Court should deny Willhite's petition for discretionary review.

¹¹ The granting of a motion to exclude certain evidence " is addressed to the discretion of the trial court and should be reversed only in the event of an abuse of discretion." *Hizey v. Carpenter*, 119 Wn.2d 251, 268, 830 P.2d 646 (1992).